ADEQUACY AND EQUITY IN EDUCATION FINANCE:

How can K-12 contexts inform higher education?

AMBERLY DZIESINSKI AND NICHOLAS HILLMAN

University of Wisconsin-Madison

June 2024



TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF CONTENTS	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	3
INTRODUCTION	4
KEY THEMES IN THE K-12 AND HIGHER EDUCATION FINANCE LITERATURE	5
Legal Context	
Economic Context	7
K-12 and higher education have different revenue sources and cost-sharing strategies, necessitating different policy considerations to equalize resources.	
Measurement Context	8
K-12 measures of equity and adequacy may apply to higher education methodologically but require modification.	
IMPLICATIONS FOR HIGHER EDUCATION	10
Legal Implications	10
Litigation has not resulted in widespread finance reform in higher education, but voluntary interest holds promise.	
Economic Implications	11
Efforts to make higher education funding more equitable or adequate need to account for the full scope of activities and revenue, including tuition.	
Measurement Implications	12
Higher education does not have clear consensus for measuring resources or specifying goals for student outcomes.	
CONCLUSION	13
REFERENCES	14

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank the State Higher Education Executive Officers Association, in partnership with the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation, the Joyce Foundation, and the Lumina Foundation for generously supporting this project. The views expressed here are ours and do not necessarily represent those of our funding partners. We also thank Carrie Hahnel, Nick Lee, and Dr. Christopher Saldaña for providing feedback on drafts of this report. We are grateful to Leslie Orrantia for research assistance and to Dr. Kathryn Boonstra and Bonniejean Zitske for feedback and support on this project. We thank Andy Sherman at Can of Creative for the report design template. Finally, we appreciate our partners and staff in the Student Success Through Applied Research Lab and the University of Wisconsin-Madison for continued support. Any errors, omissions, or shortcomings are ours alone.

INTRODUCTION

Since the late 1960s, K-12 researchers have debated whether "money matters" for improving educational opportunities and outcomes (Burtless, 2011; Coleman et al., 1966; Plecki & Castañeda, 2012; Rebell, 2017). Today's research consensus is that money matters in several ways; how much is spent, how it is spent, and policies shaping spending decisions all affect student outcomes in meaningful ways (B. D. Baker, 2016; Jackson, 2020). Higher education literature has studied this topic in far less detail, yet the findings are reaching a similar consensus where "money matters" for expanding access and improving completion (Cummings et al., 2021). And just like in K-12 education, there are large funding disparities in higher education that give rise to unequal opportunities and outcomes for students.

These disparities are at the heart of many K-12 finance policy reform efforts across the states. And in higher education, there is growing national interest in applying the K-12 concepts of "equity" and "adequacy" into higher education funding policies. Could these concepts prove useful in addressing funding disparities in higher education? Unfortunately, there are no clear answers to this question because there is no consensus on what constitutes equitable or adequate funding in higher education.

To help the field answer this question and build consensus, this review first summarizes key themes in the K-12 and higher education finance literature. We demonstrate similarities and differences in the legal, economic, and measurement contexts between the two educational settings. Second, we evaluate whether and under what circumstances K-12 funding policies provide useful insights for higher education policymaking. Finally, we conclude with a summary of considerations that higher education policymakers, researchers, and other interested parties should bear in mind when drawing lessons from K-12 finance.

KEY THEMES IN THE K-12 AND HIGHER EDUCATION FINANCE LITERATURE

LEGAL CONTEXT

Differences in the legal framework of K-12 and higher education have resulted in different approaches to litigating finance reform.

Litigation has been a significant avenue for finance reform in both K-12 and higher education. However, the approaches—centered primarily on equity and adequacy in K-12 and civil rights in higher education—highlight important differences in the legal framework of the sectors.

Between 1968 and 2021, 48 states had lawsuits challenging their K-12 funding models (Hanushek & Joyce-Wirtz, 2023). These cases can be categorized into three waves. During the first wave, legal challenges focused on the equal protection clause of the Fourteenth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution. In cases like *Serano v. Priest*, plaintiffs argued that students have unequal treatment because K-12 funding that is highly dependent on property tax ties educational access to local property wealth (B. D. Baker & Green, 2007). Then, in a 1973 case, *San Antonio Independent School District v. Rodriguez*, the U.S. Supreme Court ruled that there was no federal constitutional right to education and a poor school district was not a suspect class (B. D. Baker & Green, 2007). Consequently, states did not need to equalize revenue disparities between districts with high and low property tax values. This ruling ushered in the second wave of litigation, which also focused primarily on equity-based arguments, but at the state rather than the federal level. Plaintiffs argued that the state funding formula disadvantaged communities with lower wealth and violated state-level equal protection clauses. These cases had limited success (Briffault, 2006).

In the third wave, beginning in the late 1980s, plaintiffs scrutinized education statutes of state constitutions and used adequacy-oriented arguments. Every state constitution establishes a system of public education (Parker, 2016) open to—and compulsory for (NCES, 2017)—all students. While statutes vary, state constitutions frequently include terms like "general and uniform," "thorough and efficient," or "adequate" when describing the quality of education states shall provide (Parker, 2016). Litigation strategies drew a direct line between this statutory language and state funding models (Briffault, 2006). The general argument was that inadequate funding produced unequal educational opportunities, which in turn produced unequal student outcomes (Hanushek & Joyce-Wirtz, 2023). This strategy contributed to a broader shift in K-12 policy which reframed equity in terms of outcomes, emphasized standards-based accountability, and allowed for different funding levels based on district or student need (Clune, 1994).

The third wave is still in place today, in which cases fall at the intersection of adequacy and equity, with state supreme courts determining whether funding is adequate to support students with different educational needs and meet state performance standards (B. D. Baker & Green, 2007).

This legal context is central to understanding today's K-12 finance landscape because successful cases require states to reallocate financial resources to schools that need it most. A comprehensive review of cases occurring between 1968 and 2021 found about 40% successfully overturned state funding models (Hanushek & Joyce-Wirtz, 2023). Successful cases tend to result in more funding flowing to lower-resourced schools which can boost students' educational outcomes (Candelaria & Shores, 2019; Lockridge & Maiden, 2014). However, economic benefits are generally concentrated in the immediate post-period and have been smaller in more recent court cases (Bischoff & Owens, 2019; Condron, 2017; Hanushek & Joyce-Wirtz, 2023; Murray et al., 1998). Additionally, court orders typically require legislative action to appropriate additional resources or revise the allocation models—which may or may not be carried out in good faith (B. D. Baker & Welner, 2011).

The legal context around higher education funding models is very different from K-12 education. For example, state constitutions typically say little about public higher education (Parker, 2016). When they do, the language is often limited to establishing or chartering public institutions. Rarely do statutes include language concerning the quality of education students are minimally expected to receive in college.

Because of this, litigation in higher education finance has been primarily based on Title VI of the Civil Rights Act¹. Title VI prohibits discrimination in any program receiving federal funding—including most colleges. Public Historically Black Colleges and Universities (HBCUs) have been at the forefront of legal cases based on Title VI violations. The plaintiffs of these cases argue that the state operates a dual system of higher education, maintaining vestiges of racial segregation via program duplication, unfair admissions standards, and/or unequal funding (Hughes, 2008).

Two pivotal cases established the standards for discrimination suits. First, after *Adams v. Richardson* in the 1970s, the Office of Civil Rights developed a framework for court-ordered desegregation compliance, including eliminating: inequality in Black and white enrollment and graduation rates, dual education systems, and program duplication (Hughes, 2008). Second, with *United States v. Fordice* in the 1990s, the court established three steps to identify if a state meets the obligation to desegregate higher education. The plaintiffs must demonstrate the policy can be traced to discriminatory practices. Then, if the state can establish the policy does not have segregative effects, the policy can stand. Finally, if segregative effects do persist, the state can argue that there are no practical alternatives which would produce less segregation (*Knight v. Alabama, 458 F.Supp.2d 1273,* 2004).

These cases have broader implications than institutional finances, but the resolution often includes settlement funding to improve programs and infrastructure at underfunded institutions and promote integration efforts. For example, in the 1981 filing for *Knight v. Alabama*, the plaintiffs argued that HBCUs were discriminated against in state appropriations, denied landgrant funding, and prevented from growing into more prestigious and well-funded institutions like the state's traditionally white flagships (Brooks, 2004; Morris et al., 1994). Additionally, branch campuses for traditionally white institutions were located in the same communities as HBCUs, creating competition for students (Morris et al., 1994).

¹ We focus on Civil Rights Act cases centered on state finance. There are additional cases focused on student discrimination, for example, *Brown v. Board of Education* in K-12 and, in higher education, *Smith v. Winters* and Settlement Agreement between the USA and Highland Community College. See: www.justice.gov/crt/case-summaries.

After a series of rulings and appeals, the 1995 *Knight* ruling found institutional segregation did exist and required action to remove the vestiges of segregation. These actions included funding for HBCUs through an endowment trust fund, matching grants, capital funding, and a new funding formula. The ruling also established financial investment for academic and diversity scholarships, investment in faculty, and a lecture series at the HBCUs. Settlements in this, and similar, cases have been critiqued for placing the burden of integration disproportionately on HBCUs and for failing to provide enough resources to truly address historic inequities in funding (Harris, 2021; Morris et al., 1994).

ECONOMIC CONTEXT

K-12 and higher education have different revenue sources and cost-sharing strategies, necessitating different policy considerations to equalize resources.

The economics of higher education are, in some respects, similar to K-12 education. For example, K-12 schools and institutions of higher education are labor-intensive enterprises reliant on highly educated and highly skilled workers. Budgets in both K-12 and higher education are largely driven by human resources as most expenses are tied to employees' salaries, wages, and benefits. In both K-12 and higher education, operating and maintaining buildings are another large expense. As a result, many of the basic economics of education are similar in both K-12 and higher education with labor and operations as major cost drivers.

Despite these similarities, two major differences are noteworthy and can complicate any comparisons between K-12 and higher education finance. First, state and local governments are often the dominant revenue stream for K-12 schools whereas institutions of higher education also rely heavily on students' tuition revenue. Second, higher education uses a more complex "cost-sharing" model in which local and state governments, the federal government, philanthropy, students, and auxiliary services all generate revenue for the institution. Because of these two major differences, K-12 funding models do not translate neatly to higher education.

K-12 schools have nearly total reliance—99.4% of overall revenue—on public funding (NCES, 2023b). As a result, policymakers have substantial influence over both the level and distribution of resources. When coordinated across different levels of government, there is great promise for policy to equalize funding. For example, many states have funding models designed to address disparities in local funding capacity. Under the "foundation program" allocation model—the most common state funding approach—states appropriate the difference between available local funding and a specified per-pupil funding target (Skinner, 2019). In another model, "district power equalization," the state provides a set amount of funding per unit of local tax effort with the guarantee of meeting a minimum funding-per-student (Skinner, 2019).

The emphasis on balancing state and local funding reflects K-12's history of local control and more contemporary legal challenges. In the early 20th century, local funding accounted for a large majority of K-12 revenue—over 80% in the 1930s (NCES, 2023a). However, since the 1980s, state and local governments have become more equal partners in funding K-12 education. In 2020–2021, 46% of total K-12 revenue was from the state, 44% from local sources, and the

remaining 11% from the federal government, with variation across states (NCES, 2023a). This shift coincides with the rise of legal action over inequities and inadequacies in district capacity to fund K-12 education.

In higher education, public funding is a smaller portion of total revenue, and cost-sharing focuses on balancing public and private revenue. At two-year colleges, public funding accounts for only about 79% of revenue and, at four-year colleges, 36% (NCES, 2022). Institutions of higher education also receive revenue from gifts, auxiliary services, research grants, services, and—most consequentially—tuition and fees. Reliance on tuition varies widely by state and institution, but overall four-year colleges receive a higher proportion of their per full-time equivalent (FTE) funding from tuition than two-year colleges (SHEEO 2021, 2022).

Since institutions of higher education can raise revenue through tuition and other sources, there may be reduced political will to fund higher education (Gándara et al., 2023). Particularly during economic downturns, higher education funding is cut much more severely than K-12, a phenomenon known as the "balance wheel" (Delaney & Doyle, 2011; B. J. Taylor et al., 2023). Since there is no universally agreed upon balance of state investment relative to other revenue sources, the distribution is largely shaped by political perspectives on higher education's purpose and public benefit (Labaree, 1997). When institutions are underfunded, the remaining cost is largely passed on to students, which affects access and outcomes (Cummings et al., 2021)—an issue K-12 does not need to address.

Some states also try to balance local and state resources, particularly for community colleges, where about 22% of total revenue is locally funded (NCES, 2022). For example, Wisconsin's Equalization Index allows districts with lower valuation to receive more state aid (Toniolo, 2023). However, this type of local equalization has very limited applicability for four-year colleges, where only 4% of total revenue is from local sources (NCES, 2022). Even if local and state resources are equalized, state policy has limited capacity to address inequities in revenue from non-public resources, such as endowments (B. J. Taylor & Cantwell, 2019).

MEASUREMENT CONTEXT

K-12 measures of equity and adequacy may apply to higher education methodologically but require modification.

The concepts of "equity" and "adequacy" have a long history in K-12 that is tied closely to the legal context and performance standards movement. Do students have adequate resources to reach state performance standards? Are funds distributed equitably across districts to ensure all students can meet state standards? These questions are at the heart of many K-12 funding debates and both questions link financial resources to some sort of measurable educational standards.

When states started facing litigation in the 1970s and 1980s, courts relied on academic scholars to develop methods for measuring equity and adequacy in funding models. For example, Berne and Stiefel (1984) developed an influential framework that defined equity conceptually and methodologically. The framework is organized around practical questions including: (1) who

should funding be equitable for? (2) what resources or services should be distributed equitably? (3) how should equity be conceptualized? and (4) which measures best assess progress towards equity?

While the framework is oriented toward *equity*, state courts and legislatures were shifting into the third wave of litigation by asking how to identify what level of K-12 funding would be *adequate* to meet certain outcomes. This shift towards adequacy was driven by legal battles and performance standards, but also growing awareness that a high quality education was necessary for a productive workforce and fair society (Clune, 1994; WestEd, 2000). Perhaps more practically, this shift also occurred at a time when data and technology improved measures of student academic performance.

Subsequently, the 1990s and early 2000s saw considerable developments of four major methodologies for determining whether funding levels are adequate for meeting various academic standards (Downes & Stiefel, 2015; L. L. Taylor et al., 2005). These methods are still widely used today. The **cost-function method** uses statistical analysis and historical expenditure data to identify the funding levels needed to achieve a specified outcome at schools with different characteristics. The **professional judgement method** convenes a panel of knowledgeable stakeholders, including teachers and administrators, to identify services and resources that schools need, then draws on panel recommendations to estimate cost. The **evidence-based method** uses research on effective practices that schools should implement, such as student to teacher ratios, to estimate cost. Finally, the **successful schools method** sets a baseline using spending levels at schools that are currently meeting high performance standards and serve representative student populations.

These methods are often employed in response to court cases or standards-based reforms (e.g., Augenblick, Palaich & Associates, 2016; Kolbe & Baker, 2019; Levin et al., 2018; Odden et al., 2014). The aim of each method is to estimate the dollar amount that schools need to reach a particular performance goal, such as meeting a minimal (or "proficient") standardized test score. In practice, the specified dollar amount produced by any of these adequacy studies serve as a starting point for political negotiation. Each method for measuring adequacy has advantages and disadvantages, and each method will yield different results, calling into question the reliability of adequacy studies (Downes & Stiefel, 2015; Kentucky Legislative Research Commission, 2023).

Higher education researchers have begun translating the equity framework and adequacy measures from K-12 to higher education. Studies on funding equity have largely focused on the relationship between state spending on community colleges and local wealth, drawing a parallel with K-12's emphasis on the balance of state and local funding (Dowd & Grant, 2006, 2007; Kolbe & Baker, 2019). However, this type of analysis is less applicable to four-year colleges that receive little local funding. The higher education research field has yet to reach consensus on how to meaningfully measure funding equity.

Methodologically, some summary statistics recommended by Berne and Steifel (1984) have been applied to higher education, particularly the Gini coefficient (e.g., Cheslock & Shamekhi, 2020; Davies & Zarifa, 2012; Lau & Rosen, 2016). However, higher education scholars have also employed more advanced methodologies like the Blinder-Oaxaca Decomposition (Sav, 2000, 2010) and data envelopment analysis or stochastic frontier analysis (Titus & Eagan, 2016). These

measures are useful for identifying inequities in higher education, and they demonstrate that MSIs, community colleges, and institutions enrolling more students of color and students from low-income backgrounds often have the fewest resources (Hillman et al., 2024).

Adequacy studies are an emerging and underdeveloped area of higher education research. The first step for any useful adequacy study in higher education is to define the appropriate outcome to be deemed "adequate." This is challenging because higher education is a "multi-product" firm that produces a wide range of outcomes including research, public service, economic impact, and credentials (Winston, 1999). Adequacy studies require researchers to identify a single measurable outcome (e.g., standardized test scores) to then determine the financial resources necessary to improve that outcome across schools. The standards-based reform movement in K-12 education has resulted in test scores and other common measures researchers can use to calculate whether funding is "adequate." But in higher education there is a high degree of variation in academic missions, institutions produce multiple outcomes, and there is no equivalent to standards-based reform. As a result, efforts to measure "adequacy" in higher education require researchers to address these complexities, which can be challenging given the lack of standardization in the field.

IMPLICATIONS FOR HIGHER EDUCATION

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

Litigation has not resulted in widespread finance reform in higher education, but voluntary interest holds promise.

Historically, the judicial system has been at the center of K-12 finance reforms. Either through lawsuits or the threat of lawsuits, legal forces have compelled states to address equity and adequacy in their funding models. In higher education, courts have played an important but comparatively smaller role in compelling states to reform their funding practices. In both K-12 and higher education, courts are wrestling with issues of fairness and determining whether particular groups of students are disproportionately harmed by state funding models. However, K-12 contexts have a long and far more developed history of litigation dealing with "adequacy" and "equity" than higher education.

In higher education, the legal battles around funding fairness come from desegregation cases or focus on state matching grants for 1890 Land-Grant Universities (Brown, 1999; Harris, 2021). As a result, cases have been largely concentrated at Southern HBCUs with a clear legal history of discrimination. These cases are resource intensive, take decades to resolve, affect change for one institution at a time, and seldom result in enough funding to overcome historical disparities. The remedies of these cases tend to focus on capacity building or otherwise compensating for past funding disparities. These efforts have not resulted in wholesale reform of entire state funding models.

Instead, the emerging interest in equity and adequacy in higher education funding is largely voluntary (Blake, 2024). Proactive efforts have followed from state attainment goals and workforce development, performance-based funding, and evidence of inequities in student outcomes. For example, Texas's recent funding formula was prompted by the Commission on Community College Finance's recommendation that the "new model must ensure that small and rural-serving colleges with lower property values have the resources needed to serve students inside and outside their service areas and to meet local employers' workforce requirements" (Texas Commission on Community College Finance, 2022, p. 7). Additionally, the Texas Higher Education Coordinating Board's 2022-2030 strategic plan acknowledges that the state will be unable to meet attainment goals "if we're not advancing our goals equitably," particularly in relation to the growth in racial diversity in the state (Texas Higher Education Coordinating Board, 2022, p. 5). In the absence of court-ordered actions, any effort to make funding more equitable or adequate in higher education will rest with state legislatures, governor's offices, or higher education agencies taking on this work themselves. Whether they achieve greater equity or adequacy will be an answerable question in due time.

ECONOMIC IMPLICATIONS

Efforts to make higher education funding more equitable or adequate need to account for the full scope of activities and revenue, including tuition.

K-12 schools have a far less diverse revenue portfolio than institutions of higher education. Most of K-12's revenue is from state and local sources, while these sources vary considerably for higher education. Some have argued community colleges are the most similar to K-12 schools because both types of institutions receive large shares of funding from state and local sources. However, this corollary quickly fails because community colleges—unlike K-12 schools—rely on tuition. Tuition accounts for 44% of operating revenue and 11% of total revenue at two-year colleges (NCES, 2022). The revenue differences in K-12 and higher education only get starker as we compare K-12 schools to comprehensive and research universities. As a result, any effort to make funding more equitable or adequate in higher education must account for the role of tuition (and other sources of) revenue. This does not make it impossible to apply concepts of adequacy or equity in higher education; rather, it adds a complication unaccounted for in existing K-12 policy debates.

Additionally, the sheer size of colleges and universities is considerably larger than K-12 schools. This means economies of scale are likely very different in higher education contexts than they are in K-12. Some states use weights to adjust formulas based on school size, and this is likely necessary in higher education. And because higher education is a "multi-product firm," the outcomes and outputs of higher education are far more diverse than K-12. As a result, existing K-12 funding models may not sufficiently capture the full range of activity taking place within institutions of higher education. There is not yet a consensus on how best to account for these economic differences between K-12 and higher education funding models.

Despite these fundamental differences, there is a corollary in K-12 and higher education with respect to cost-sharing (or "equalization") strategies in K-12 that higher education can—and has—learned from. For example, K-12 policies demonstrate the importance of addressing inequalities across revenue sources by using state dollars to equalize local disparities. This strategy is already being used in higher education, particularly for community colleges. Policies in K-12 also recognize that equality is not necessarily equity, and there may be good reasons to allocate different levels of resources per student. In particular, many state funding formulas include weights so students and schools with greater need receive greater resources (Carey, 2002).

MEASUREMENT IMPLICATIONS

Higher education does not have clear consensus for measuring resources or specifying goals for student outcomes.

How would a state know if their higher education funding system is "inadequate" or "inequitable?" This question is at the core of any discussion taking place in states, yet there is no consensus on an answer. Some analysts are applying the "cost-function" approach from K-12 to higher education, but it is unclear how well this approach maps to higher education contexts. For example, adequacy is typically defined in terms of resources needed to reach a specified outcome. In higher education, there is no consensus on how best to measure the "resources needed" or on what "specified outcome" is most appropriate for use. In K-12, there is a general consensus that per-pupil expenditures are the necessary resources and proficiency levels (typically measured on standardized tests) or graduation rates are the desired outcome. In higher education, students often enroll part-time making it unclear whether resources should be measures per headcount or on an FTE basis—or if equity should be considered at the institution-level rather than the student-level. Similarly, it is unclear "which" expenditures should be included when determining adequacy/equity. For example, should the focus be on auxiliaries, research, hospitals, and public service expenditures or only on instructional expenses? And what outcome(s) should these resources be linked to?

Because adequacy and equity are still new concepts in higher education funding debates, these questions are unanswered in the literature, making it difficult to find a meaningful corollary with K-12 contexts. These unanswered questions should not prevent higher education from exploring how these concepts might be applied and used in meaningful ways. It is unlikely a K-12 measure would be immediately transferrable to higher education, but perhaps there are elements or other features of a particular metric that could prove useful.

For example, instead of using total expenditures, perhaps "education and general" expenditures would be more relevant to higher education (State Council of Higher Education for Virginia & NCHEMS, 2022). Similarly, instead of comparing community colleges or public universities to one another, researchers could compare institutions of similar Carnegie Classifications or other mission-specific categories to determine adequacy levels. And instead of treating higher education as a "black box," adequacy studies can help pinpoint the specific programs, resources,

² Education and general expenditures include instruction, academic support, student services, institutional support, operations, scholarships, public service, and research while excluding auxiliary services, hospitals, and independent operations.

practices, and conditions necessary for improving college student outcomes (Fulcher Dawson et al., 2020), as exemplified in recommendations from the Illinois Commission on Equitable Public University Funding (2024). Considering the diversity both across and within institutions of higher education, existing K-12 approaches to measuring equity and adequacy should be informed by higher education finance literature/research and adapted accordingly if they are to be useful in higher education settings.

CONCLUSION

Funding reforms in K-12 education have wrestled with the thorny concepts of "equity" and "adequacy" for decades. Higher education is now entering into this space and this literature review helps draw three distinctions between the two sectors. First, the legal context between K-12 and higher education is substantially different. Courts typically compel states into reforming their K-12 funding models while, in higher education, where there is less statutory language around funding adequacy, the courts' role has so far been limited. Second, fundamental differences in the economics of K-12 and higher education—primarily related to revenue sources and economies of scale—present challenges for applying K-12 funding concepts directly to higher education. And third, the methods for analyzing equity and adequacy in K-12 cannot be used "right off the shelf" but instead may be useful with certain and careful modifications.

Despite the significant differences between K-12 and higher education, this review also found promising similarities. For example, the need for greater financial resources is considerable, and when students have more resources available, they tend to achieve stronger outcomes. Funding models are a promising way to ensure institutions with the greatest needs can benefit the most from limited state (or local) resources. Additionally, courts have played a significant role in compelling states to take action and there may be opportunities for further court involvement in the future, particularly where HBCUs have been systematically underfunded. In K-12, decades of court cases have helped the field define, measure, and ultimately use funding models to address educational inequities. Finally, as states experiment with different approaches to funding reform, researchers can monitor these efforts and eventually determine whether certain approaches are more effective than others.

We addressed the themes most relevant for developing measures and identifying policy levers, but other comparisons between higher education and K-12 should be explored in future work including the politics, social contexts, and governance arrangements. Additionally, we have focused on the state's role, but the federal government has played a strong role in equity funding in K-12, particularly for low-income students and students with disabilities (e.g. Title I, IDEA) and is beginning to pressure higher education as well (U.S. Department of Education, 2023).

As a field, we have a long way to go and, in many respects, this literature review serves as a starting point to help the higher education community anticipate some of the opportunities and challenges of using funding models to improve opportunities and outcomes.

REFERENCES

Augenblick, Palaich & Associates. (2016). Final report of the study of adequacy of funding for education in Maryland (pp. 1–152). Augenblick, Palaich & Associates. marylandpublicschools. org/Documents/adequacystudy/AdequacyStudyReportFinal112016.pdf

Baker, B. D. (2016). Does money matter in higher education? (pp. 1–48). Shanker Institute. shankerinstitute.org/resource/does-money-matter-education-second-edition

Baker, B. D., & Green, P. C. (2007). Conceptions of equity and adequacy in school finance. In *Handbook of research in education finance and policy* (1st ed., pp. 225–243). Routledge.

Baker, B. D., & Welner, K. (2011). School finance and courts: Does reform matter, and how can we tell? *Teachers College Record*, 113(11), 2374–2414. doi.org/10.1177/016146811111301105

Berne, R., & Stiefel, L. (1984). The measurement of equity in school finance: Conceptual, methodological, and empirical dimensions. Johns Hopkins University Press.

Bischoff, K., & Owens, A. (2019). The segregation of opportunity: Social and financial resources in the educational contexts of lower- and higher-income children, 1990–2014. *Demography*, *56*(5), 1635–1664. *doi.org/10.1007/s13524-019-00817-y*

Blake, J. (2024, March 29). Illinois's ambitious plan for higher ed funding. *Inside Higher Ed.* insidehighered.com/news/government/state-policy/2024/03/29/illinois-announces-ambitious-plan-equity-based-funding

Briffault, R. (2006). Adding adequacy to equity: The evolving legal theory of school finance reform (SSRN Scholarly Paper 906145). doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.906145

Brooks, F. E. (2004). Legal and policy issues: Removing the residue of past segregation in higher education. *The Journal of Negro Education*, 73(3), 350–364. doi.org/10.2307/4129617

Brown, M. C. (1999). The quest to define collegiate desegregation: Black colleges, Title VI compliance, and post-Adams litigation. Bergin & Garvey.

Burtless, G. (2011). Does money matter?: The effect of school resources on student achievement and adult success. Brookings Institution Press.

Candelaria, C. A., & Shores, K. A. (2019). Court-ordered finance reforms in the adequacy era: Heterogeneous causal effects and sensitivity. *Education Finance and Policy, 14*(1), 31–60. *doi. org/10.1162/edfp_a_00236*

Carey, K. (2002). *Overview of K-12 education finance* (ED472446; pp. 1–18). Center on Budget and Policy Priorities. *eric.ed.gov/?id=ED472446*

Cheslock, J. J., & Shamekhi, Y. (2020). Decomposing financial inequality across U.S. higher education institutions. *Economics of Education Review, 78*, 102035. *doi.org/10.1016/j.* econedurev.2020.102035

Clune, W. H. (1994). The shift from equity to adequacy in school finance. *Educational Policy*, 8(4), 376–394. *doi.org/10.1177/0895904894008004002*

Coleman, J. S., Campbell, E. Q., Hobson, C. J., McPartland, J., Mood, A. M., Weinfeld, F. D., & York, R. L. (1966). *Equality of Educational Opportunity*. U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare. *files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED012275.pdf*

Condron, D. J. (2017). The waning impact of school finance litigation on inequality in per student revenue during the adequacy era. *Journal of Education Finance*, 43(1), 1–20.

Cummings, K., Laderman, S., Lee, J., Tandberg, D., & Weeden, D. (2021). Investigating the impacts of state higher education appropriations and financial aid. In *State Higher Education Executive Officers*. State Higher Education Executive Officers. *eric.ed.gov/?id=ED614983*

Davies, S., & Zarifa, D. (2012). The stratification of universities: Structural inequality in Canada and the United States. *Research in Social Stratification and Mobility, 30*(2), 143–158. *doi.* org/10.1016/j.rssm.2011.05.003

Delaney, J. A., & Doyle, W. R. (2011). State spending on higher education: Testing the balance wheel over time. *Journal of Education Finance*, 36(4), 343–368.

Dowd, A., & Grant, J. (2006). Equity and efficiency of community college appropriations: The role of local financing. *The Review of Higher Education*, 29(2), 167–194.

Dowd, A., & Grant, J. (2007). Equity effects of entrepreneurial community college revenues. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice, 31*(3), 231–244. *doi. org/10.1080/10668920600859285*

Downes, T. A., & Stiefel, L. (2015). Measuring equity and adequacy in school finance. In *Handbook of research in education finance and policy* (2nd ed., pp. 244–259). Routledge.

Fulcher Dawson, R., Kearney, M. S., & Sullivan, J. X. (2020). Comprehensive approaches to increasing student completion in higher education: A survey of the landscape (Working Paper 28046). National Bureau of Economic Research. doi.org/10.3386/w28046

Gándara, D., Billings, M. S., Rubin, P. G., & Hammond, L. (2023). "One of the weakest budget players in the state": State funding of higher education at the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 01623737231168812. doi. org/10.3102/01623737231168812

Hanushek, E. A., & Joyce-Wirtz, M. (2023). Incidence and outcomes of school finance litigation: 1968–2021. *Public Finance Review*, 51(6), 748–781. doi.org/10.1177/10911421231190964

Harris, A. (2021). The state must provide: The definitive history of racial inequality in American higher education. HarperCollins. harpercollins.com/products/the-state-must-provide-adam-harris?variant=39815028899874

Hillman, N., Dziesinski, A., & You, E. (2024). *Key literature on the impacts and distribution of financial resources among higher education institutions* (pp. 1–24). Student Success through Applied Research Laboratory. *sstar.wisc.edu/wp-content/uploads/2024/01/ResourceGuide.pdf*

Hughes, L. U. (2008). *Litigation trends in the desegregation of higher education* (SSRN Scholarly Paper 1286179). *doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.1286179*

Illinois Commission on Equitable Public University Funding. (2024). Report on the commission's recommendations (pp. 1–89). Illinois Commission on Equitable Public University Funding. ibhe. org/assets/files/Funding/Illinois_Commission_on_Equitable_Public_University_Funding_Report.pdf

Jackson, C. K. (2020). Does school spending matter? The new literature on an old question. In *Confronting inequality: How policies and practices shape children's opportunities* (pp. 165–186). American Psychological Association. *doi.org/10.1037/0000187-008*

Kentucky Legislative Research Commission. (2023). *A review of school funding adequacy studies* (480; pp. 1–90). Kentucky Legislative Research Commission. *legislature.ky.gov/LRC/Publications/Research%20Reports/RR480.pdf*

Knight v. Alabama, 458 F.Supp.2d 1273. (2004). Civil Rights Litigation Clearinghouse. clearinghouse.net/doc/86238/

Kolbe, T., & Baker, B. D. (2019). Fiscal equity and America's community colleges. *The Journal of Higher Education*, 90(1), 111–149. doi.org/10.1080/00221546.2018.1442984

Labaree, D. (1997). Public goods, private goods: The American struggle over educational goals. *American Educational Research Journal*, 34(1), 39–81.

Lau, Y., & Rosen, H. S. (2016). Are universities becoming more unequal? *Review of Higher Education*, 39(4), 479–514. doi.org/10.1353/rhe.2016.0023

Levin, J., Brodziak de los Reyes, I., Atchison, D., Manship, K., Arellanes, M., & Hu, L. (2018). What does it cost to educate California's students? A professional judgement approach (Version 2; pp. 1–67). American Institutes for Research. files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED594739.pdf

Lockridge, C., & Maiden, J. (2014). The tangible impact of school finance litigation. *Journal of Education Finance*, 39(4), 344–369.

Morris, A., Allen, W., Maurrasse, D., & Gilbert, D. (1994). White supremacy and higher education: The Alabama higher education desegregation case. *National Black Law Journal*, 14(1), 59–92.

Murray, S. E., Evans, W. N., & Schwab, R. M. (1998). Education-finance reform and the distribution of education resources. *American Economic Review*, 88(4), 789–812.

NCES. (2017). State education practices, Table 1.2 Compulsory school attendance laws, minimum and maximum age limits for required free education, by state: 2017. IES National Center for Educational Statistics. nces.ed.gov/programs/statereform/tabl 2-2020.asp

NCES. (2022). Table 333.10. Total revenue of public degree-granting postsecondary institutions, by source of revenue and level of institution: Selected fiscal years, 2007-08 through 2020-21. IES National Center for Educational Statistics. nces.ed.gov/programs/digest/d22/tables/dt22_333.10.asp

NCES. (2023a). Table 235.10 Revenues for public elementary and secondary schools, by source of funds: Selected school years, 1919-20 through 2020-21. IES National Center for Educational Statistics. nces.ed.gov/programs/digest/d23/tables/dt23_235.10.asp?current=yes

NCES. (2023b). Table 235.20 Revenues for public elementary and secondary schools, by source of funds and state or jurisdiction: School year 2020–21. IES National Center for Educational Statistics. nces.ed.gov/programs/digest/d23/tables/dt23_235.20.asp?current=yes

Odden, A., Picus, L., & Goetz, M. (2014). Recalibrating North Dakota's per student number for the school foundation program (pp. 1–110). Picus Odden and Associates. picusodden.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/06/ND-Picus-Odden-Associates-Recalibration-Report-June-4-20141.pdf

Parker, E. (2016). Constitutional obligations for public education: 50-state review (pp. 1–23). Education Commission of the States. ecs.org/wp-content/uploads/2016-Constitutional-obligations-for-public-education-1.pdf

Plecki, M. L., & Castañeda, T. A. (2012). Whether and how money matters in K-12 education. In *Handbook of education policy research* (pp. 453–465). Routledge.

Rebell, M. A. (2017). The courts' consensus: Money does matter for educational opportunity. The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science, 674(1), 184–198. doi. org/10.1177/0002716217732311

Sav, G. T. (2000). Tests of fiscal discrimination in higher education finance: Funding Historically Black Colleges and Universities. *Journal of Education Finance*, 26(2), 157–172.

Sav, G. T. (2010). Funding Historically Black Colleges and Universities: Progress toward equality? *Journal of Education Finance*, 35(3), 295–307.

Skinner, R. R. (2019). State and local financing of public schools (R45827; pp. 1–24). Congressional Research Service. files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED597879.pdf

State Council of Higher Education for Virginia & NCHEMS. (2022). Virginia cost and funding need study report (pp. 1–114). State Council of Higher Education for Virginia & National Center for Higher Education Management Systems. nchems.org/wp-content/uploads/Final-Report-220701-adjustments-added-7-12-22-by-SCHEV.pdf

State higher education finance: FY 2021. (2022). State Higher Education Executive Officers Association. shef.sheeo.org/report/

Taylor, B. J., & Cantwell, B. (2019). *Unequal higher education: Wealth, status, and student opportunity.* Rutgers University Press. *rutgersuniversity press.org/unequal-higher-education/9780813593494/*

Taylor, B. J., Kunkle, K., & Watts, K. (2023). Democratic backsliding and the balance wheel hypothesis: Partisanship and state funding for higher education in the United States. *Higher Education Policy*, 36(4), 781–803. doi.org/10.1057/s41307-022-00286-w

Taylor, L. L., Baker, B. D., & Vedlitz, A. (2005). *Measuring educational adequacy in public schools* (580; Bush School Working Paper # 580).

Texas Commission on Community College Finance. (2022). Texas Commission on Community College Finance report to the 88th Legislature (pp. 1–28). Texas Commission on Community College Finance. reportcenter.highered.texas.gov/reports/legislative/texas-commission-on-community-college-finance-report-88tx/

Texas Higher Education Coordinating Board. (2022). *Building a talent strong Texas: 2022-2030 Strategic plan* (pp. 1–20). Texas Higher Education Coordinating Board. *reportcenter.highered. texas.gov/agency-publication/miscellaneous/building-talent-strong-texas/*

Titus, M. A., & Eagan, K. (2016). Examining production efficiency in higher education: The utility of stochastic frontier analysis. In M. B. Paulsen (Ed.), *Higher education: Handbook of theory and research* (pp. 441–512). Springer International Publishing. doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-26829-3_9

Toniolo, M. (2023). Wisconsin Technical College System (35; pp. 1–21). State of Wisconsin Legislative Fiscal Bureau. docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/misc/lfb/informational_papers/january_2023/0035_wisconsin_technical_college_system_informational_paper_35.pdf

U.S. Department of Education. (2023). Secretaries of education, agriculture call on governors to equitably fund land-grant HBCUs. ed.gov/news/press-releases/secretaries-education-agriculture-call-governors-equitably-fund-land-grant-hbcus

WestEd. (2000). From equity to adequacy. wested.org/resources/school-funding-from-equity-to-adequacy/

Winston, G. C. (1999). Subsidies, hierarchy and peers: The awkward economics of higher education. *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 13(1), 13–36. *doi.org/10.1257/jep.13.1.13*

